
 
 

 Tillamook County Transportation District 
Board of Directors 

Regular Monthly Meeting 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Thursday, April 21, 2022 at 6:00PM 
Transportation Building 

3600 Third Street, Tillamook, Oregon  
 



1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



Coordinating Committee Zoom Meeting 
April 8, 2022 

10:00 am—12:00 pm 
 

Join Zoom Meeting: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87552290259 

 
Call In: 1 253 215 8782 

Meeting ID: 875 5229 0259 
 

Agenda 
 

 

10:00—
10:05a 1. Introductions.  Welcome to guests. Doug Pilant 

10:05—
10:25a 

2. Consent Calendar  (Action Items) 
 March Meeting Minutes (Attached) 
 Financial Report 
 Ridership Tracking 

Doug Pilant/All 

10:25—
11:15a 

3. NWOTA Standing Items 
 Marketing Report & Proposal 
 Open Trip Planner Update 
 Bus Stop Project Update 

Juliet Eldred 
Chris Perry 

Doug Pilant 

11:15 – 
11:35a 4. FY 2022-2023 Budget Drafting All 

11:35-
11:45a 5. FMCSA Driver Training Requirements All 

11:45-
12:00p 

6. Other Business and Member Updates 
 All 

Attachments: 
 

March Meeting Minutes 
Ridership/Passenger Mile Tracking  
 
 
 

 

 

NWOTA meetings are open to the public and accommodations will be provided to persons with 
disabilities.  If a sign language interpreter is needed, please call Sarah Lu Heath at 971.328.2877 at 
least 48 hours prior to the meeting. 

25

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87552290259


Northwest Oregon Transit Alliance 
Friday, March 11, 2022 Meeting Minutes 

Attending: Doug Pilant, Arla Miller, Juliet Eldred, Brad Dillingham, Chris Perry, John Dreezsen, Cynda 
Bruce, Jeff Hazen, Sarah Lu Heath.  

Meeting called to order 10:07a by Doug Pilant.  

Consent Calendar: Minutes were reviewed with a typo noted. Finances were reviewed without 
comment. Ridership/Performance tracking was reviewed with a glitch to be forwarded to Carole 
Richardson for correction. Consent agenda motion to approve by John Dreezsen and seconded by Brad 
Dillingham.  

Marketing Report: provided by Juliet Eldred.  

Open Trip Planner Update: Chris Perry reviewed Trillium’s proposed scope of work and budget for 
FY22/23. Options for lowering hosting costs were discussed. 

Budget Drafting: Discussion of Trillium’s proposal and recognition that most agencies are delayed by 
external auditor delays. It was also noted that the bus stop project funding would carry over and costs 
are likely to be higher due to inflation. Also, any remaining reimbursable expenses from the sanitation 
grant needed to be turned in by March 31. Doug offered to prepare a draft budget for the April meeting.  

The group also agreed to restart marketing efforts previously on hold due to the pandemic. A request 
for Trillium to provide an updated marketing proposal will be sent.  

FMSCA Driver Training: SETD is on the registry of certified trainers and TCTD is working towards that 
goal.  

Bicycle Policy: No updates needed. Brief note on policy should be added to the website.  

Other Business & Member Updates: Lincoln and Benton counties have started to book Amtrak 
connections; collaboration on the process has been helpful. Driver shortages are still problematic. TCTD 
planning to implement Route 5 expansion and now have enough drivers to reinstate suspended services 
in May.  

The meeting was adjourned at 12:12pm.  

 

26



27



28



NW Connector Facebook Metrics:
March 2022

Page Followers
Page Followers as of 03/31/22: 1,950
Page Followers as of 03/03/22: 1,871
Page Followers as of 02/09/22: 1,793
Page Followers as of 01/10/22: 1,713
Page Followers as of 12/07/21: 1,579
Page Followers as of 11/09/21: 1,449
Page Followers as of 10/06/21: 1,382
Page Followers as of 9/09/21: 1,296
Page Followers as of 7/26/21: 1,063
Page Followers as of 6/17/21: 950
Page followers as of 5/21/21: 733
Page Followers as of 4.15.21: 395
Page followers as of 3.17.21: 348
Page followers as of 2.17.21 (before paid promotion): 305

1

29



Ad #1: Promoting Facebook Page
Running from 03/14 through 04/13 at $10/day

2

30



Ad #2: Promoting NW Connector Website
Running from 03/14 through 04/13 at $10/day

3

31



Additional Metrics

4

32



M k ti  R d ti  Marketing Recommendations 

for FY 2019/20

33



Trillium – Transit Marketing   1 

CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE 
REVIEW 
The five transit agencies that make up NOWTA and the 
Northwest Connector network provide reliable, friendly 
transit service. This consultant rode 10 routes during a three 
day tour of the area. 

 Every bus arrived as scheduled. 
 Vehicles were clean and well maintained. 
 Connections worked as planned (though a few required 

a longer wait than might be ideal for a visitor).  
 Drivers were courteous, though some were unfamiliar 

with the visitor pass and how to handle it. 
 The on-bus environment was pleasant, with ridership 

that included a variety of demographic groups – locals, 
tourists and travelers.  Quite a few people were 
traveling with bicycles. 

 The Trip Planner allowed me to plan my trip throughout 
the region, though a glitch was found with one segment 
and has since been corrected. 

 The Transit App was very helpful, providing real-time 
info where available and schedule information in other 
locations. 

My initial boarding in Portland might have been a little 
daunting for an inexperienced rider. I chose to board at the 
downtown (Salmon and 5th) stop rather than Amtrak, 
because I had stayed overnight downtown (as a visitor 
might). I arrived at Salmon and 5th to find a very nice Trimet 
stop but no indication that it was used by CC Rider. I 
wandered down the block and found a CC Rider sandwich 
sign closer to 6th.  It was not visible from the Trimet stop.  
Once I found it, I felt more confident I was in the right place, 
though it included no information other than the system 
logo. Note: When I returned to Portland, I visited the stop at 
Union Station and found it to be much better signed. 

I had planned to purchase a three-day visitor pass and had 
$25 in cash. When I boarded the CC Rider bus, I was told 
(by the driver trainer/dispatcher who was on board) that 
the driver did not sell the pass on the bus as promised on 
the website. I was told that I needed to purchase it after I 
arrived at the Transit Center in St. Helens. So I paid a $6.00 
fare to get to the point where I could buy the $25 pass.  
From a visitor point of view, this is now a $31 3-day pass 
and not quite as good a deal. 

In marketing to visitors, NWOTA is seeking to attract a 
steady stream of first-time riders.  Providing a consistent 
experience at every step of the trip is critical to success. 

Transit Routes Used: 

MAX 

 To Downtown Portland to 
catch bus at Salmon & 5th 

CC Rider 

 Portland to St. Helens 
 St. Helens to Rainier 

Sunset Empire Transit District 

 Rainier to Astoria 
 Astoria to Seaside 
 Seaside to Cannon Beach 

Tillamook County Transit 

 Cannon Beach to Tillamook 
 Local Tillamook routes 
 Tillamook to Lincoln City 

Lincoln County Transit 

 Lincoln City to Newport 

Coast to Valley Express 

 Newport to Corvallis 

Albany Transit 

 Corvallis to Albany Amtrak 

Bolt Bus 

 Albany to Portland 

34



Trillium – Transit Marketing   2 

1X per day, 3 buses

2X per day, Direct

4X per day, Direct

3X per day, direct

Coming: 8X per day, Direct

Coming: 4X per day, Direct

Direct Bus Service
PORTLAND TO 

THE OREGON COAST
6X EVERYDAY

Direct to Astoria & Tillamook
Connect to Cannon Beach & Lincoln City

NWConnector.org

PLANNED SERVICE 

ENHANCEMENTS 
When organizing the customer experience review, the most 
challenging trip segment was getting from Portland to 
Astoria.  This required three buses and was only possible 
once a day and only on weekdays. A rider not committed to 
using the NWConnector routes would have probably 
chosen to use the Northwest Point service even though it 
would be more expensive and would not accept the visitor 
pass. 

This issue will be remedied in the near term when SETD 
initiates direct service between Astoria and Portland.  
People in Portland who wish to visit the coast will then have 
six direct options each day – four trips to Astoria and two 
to Tillamook. 

An increase in service frequency is also planned for the 
more southern route from Newport to Corvallis and Albany.  
The frequency of the Coast to Valley Express will increase 
from 4 round trips per day, to eight. 

Residents of Salem will continue to have three round trips 
per day to Lincoln City. 

With the service improvements, the NWConnector network 
will be significantly more robust. It will be possible to reach 
the Coast from any of the three origin cities with a single 
bus.  With the exception of the Portland to Tillamook route, 
travelers will be able to make a same-day round trip. This 
provides a cost-effective option for city residents who 
simply want to escape for “a day at the beach.”  

The addition of a third round trip to the Tillamook route 
would make day-trip travel on that route also possible. This 
would be more attractive both to visitors and to local 
residents traveling to Portland for personal business. 
With the implementation of the planned improvements, it is 
recommended that NWOTA take a very straightforward 
approach to marketing the network. The image at the left is 
NOT a recommended advertisement.  But it is an example 
of the kind of very direct messaging which will allow 
residents of Portland, Salem and Corvallis/Albany to see 
exactly what the NWConnector has to offer them.

$25 
3-Day  
Pass 

35



Trillium – Transit Marketing   3 

MARKETING 
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR 
NWCONNECTOR.ORG 

BRANDING 

IMPROVE CONSISTENCY OF BRANDING ON 
VEHICLES, BUS STOPS AND LITERATURE. 

While the NWConnector is made up of five individual transit 
systems, it is being branded/marketed as a single network. 
For riders responding to an ad or the website, it will be 
important that they see the NWConnector branding 
consistently throughout their trip in order to have 
confidence that they are in the “right place.”   

Bus Stop Signage 

This begins at the bus stop in the origin city where they 
board.  Bus stop signage in Portland, Salem and Corvallis 
will be critical to starting each trip off on the right foot. 

As can be seen in the photos at the left, work is needed to 
improve the consistency of bus stop information.  Each 
“origin city” bus stop should include: 

 NWConnector logo signage (new logo) 
 NWConnector.org web address 
 Bus stop sign for individual transit systems with contact 

info 

Ideally, where possible, the stops would also include the 
departure times for NWConnector trips and the 
NWConnector Map.   

Key stops to be addressed include boarding locations in 
origin cities and major connection points: 

 Portland Union Station 
 Salem Amtrak/Greyhound 
 Downtown Salem Transit Mall 
 Corvallis Transit Center 
 Albany Amtrak Station 
 Astoria Transit Center 
 Tillamook Transit Center 
 Chinook Winds (Lincoln City) 
 Cannon Beach Midtown 
 Newport City Hall 

  

Portland Union Station 

Portland – Salmon & 5th 

Corvallis Transit Center 

36



Trillium – Transit Marketing   4 

Vehicles 

Each of the five transit agencies which make up the 
NWConnector has its own distinct branding, as is 
appropriate.  However, this can be confusing for a rider who 
has found their way to the network via the website or in 
response to an ad, and is unsure if the bus that arrives is 
“their bus.”   

This worry can be alleviated by placing the NWConnector 
logo in a secondary but highly visible location on each 
vehicle that is part of the network. The photo of the wave 
bus at the left is an ideal example of co-branding.  The 
placement of a NWConnector logo decal on the window 
near the passenger door makes it clear to the rider that this 
bus is part of the network.  The SETD bus in the lower 
photo is not co-branded, but could easily use the same 
approach, as could the buses of all of the NWOTA systems.  
This is particularly key for the routes which are included on 
the NWConnector map. 

 Literature 

Including the NWConnector branding and map on local 
passenger guides serves a somewhat different purpose. It 
lets local riders know that the individual system is part of a 
larger network which gives them access to more 
destinations along the coast and inland. If visitors pick up 
the guides along the way, it also reinforces the fact that 
they are traveling on the NWConnector network. 

As soon as practical, all systems should bring the branding 
on their local materials up-to-date with the new 
NWConnector logo, web address and map.  

  

37



Trillium – Transit Marketing   5 

WEBSITE/PASSENGER INFO 

NWOTA is well aware that effective, easy to use passenger 
information is at the core of attracting new riders to a 
transit service. Establishment of the NWConnector website 
insured that potential riders could easily plan trips to and 
along the coast without having to access multiple 
information sources. 

CONTINUE TO ENHANCE WEBSITE FOR 
USABILITY 

Trillium is continuing to make NWConnector.org more 
usable with enhancements to the trip planner function and 
the overall content.  

 Explore Trip Ideas was recently updated with new 
events listings. More events should be added on an 
ongoing basis to keep the calendar up to date and 
interesting. 

 Trillium has plans to develop and implement an 
OpenTripPlanner to replace the Google Trip Planner on 
the website. This trip planner will be customized to 
include all transit options provided by NWOTA (not just 
fixed routes), and allow for trip planning months into the 
future. 

 

CONTINUE TO UTILIZE THE NWCONNECTOR 
MAP AT MAJOR BUS STOPS 

The NWConnector Map, used as a shelter poster or smaller 
poster is an excellent marketing tool that should be used as 
broadly as possible. At bus stops, it allows passengers to 
see where they are and can go from here.  On bulletin 
boards at local venues (e.g. visitor centers, grocery stores, 
and social service offices) it can provide inexpensive 
promotional value by building awareness of the network of 
routes and the places they go. 

As the network continues to grow more robust and the 
map is updated, NWOTA might consider adding frequency 
notes.  For example highlight the number of round trips per 
day between Portland and Astoria, Portland and Tillamook, 
Salem and Lincoln City and Corvallis/Albany and Newport. 
This will allow potential riders to see that they have many 
options for travel.  

38



Trillium – Transit Marketing   6 

FARES AND FARE MEDIA 

The 3-Day and 7-Day visitor passes, sold on the buses, have 
been the primary fare media promoted by NWOTA. While 
these are effective marketing tools, there are opportunities 
to build on this foundation. 

UPDATE PAPER TICKETS 

The paper tickets need to be updated to reflect the revised 
logo.  At this time, they might be redesigned to be twice 
the current size, folded over.  This would have two 
advantages. 

 The inside space could be used to include a small 
version of the system map, giving riders easy reference 
to the overall system. 

 It would make the pass somewhat more sturdy, to hold 
up to 3 day or a week of being pulled in and out of 
pockets. 

It goes without saying that it is extremely important that all 
NWConnector bus drivers sell the passes and be familiar 
with how to accept them, as this is what the website 
promises visitors. 

MOBILE TICKETING 

The current system of selling passes on the bus requires 
that visitors pay cash and have the exact amount. Tourists 
often travel with little cash and are used to paying for 
everything with a credit card or their Smartphone. To make 
the system easier for users to access, NWOTA should 
consider the establishment of a mobile ticketing platform 
for the NWConnector routes.  

Some ticketing platforms can be implemented quickly and 
with no cost up front, but take a 10% commission on sales.  
For the short term, NWOTA might consider implementing 
one of these options to be promoted during the 2019/20 
campaign. 

 Token Transit 
 Hopthru 

It should be noted that the mobile ticketing arena is in a 
state of transition. It is recommended that NWOTA limit any 
contractual arrangement to 12 months and reevaluate its 
options at that time. 

  

39



Trillium – Transit Marketing   7 

CONSIDER FAMILY FARE 

Another fare related consideration is the implementation of 
a family fare to make transit travel to the coast affordable 
and attractive for families with children.   

 One easy approach is to amend the Visitor Pass policy 
such that children under 6 and one child 6-12 or 6-15, 
ride free with each adult pass,. Additional older children 
would need to buy another pass (each pass would be 
good for two additional older kids). 

 Another more complex approach would be to actually 
create a Family Pass Package (e.g. $50 for 3-days, $100 
for 7-days) that would be good for two adults and up to 
a certain number of children (e.g. 2 to 4) under a 
specific age (e.g. 12 or 16)..   

  

ESTABLISH TICKETING AGREEMENTS WITH 
AMTRAK AND GREYHOUND 

Tillamook County Transit is currently working to establish 
ticketing agreements with Amtrak and/or Greyhound such 
that passengers would be able to purchase tickets to 
Coastal Oregon destinations.  The final leg of the trip would 
be provided by the NWConnector.  

YARTS, the transit agency which serves Yosemite National 
Park, has been very successful with a similar Amtrak 
agreement from Merced, CA.  

Amtrak is heavily used by international travelers.  Having 
such agreements for travel from the Amtrak and/or 
Greyhound stations in Portland, Salem and Albany could be 
an excellent tool for marketing the NWConnector system 
more broadly.  

40



Trillium – Transit Marketing   8 

PROMOTIONAL PARTNERSHIPS & SOCIAL 
MEDIA 

Many organizations are promoting travel to the Oregon 
Coast – communities, chambers of commerce, tourism 
bureaus, destinations, hotels and events.  Most of these 
have websites and social media pages with much broader 
audiences than that of NWConnector.org. The members of 
NWOTA each need to ask key promoters within their own 
service area to promote the use of the NWConnector 
network to reach their destination. 

NWCONNECTOR.ORG LINK ON PARTNER 
WEBSITES  

Websites for organizations that promote tourism on the 
NW Oregon Coast should be asked to include a link to 
NWConnector.org on their websites – potentially on the 
“Directions” or “How to Get Here” page.  Images at the left 
are from three of several websites which already has such a 
link. In many cases these point to the individual transit 
system page.  They would be more effective for tourists if 
they pointed to the NWConnector.org homepage so that 
the trip planner and map are immediately visible.1 Following 
is a starter list of target websites – many of which already 
have transit links that simply needed to be updated. 

 GoTillamook.com (in place, redirect to trip planner) 
 TravelAstoria.com (Directions, redirect to trip planner) 
 Tillamookcoast.com 
 VisittheOregonCoast.com (in place, redirect to trip 

planner)  
 DiscoverNewport.com (has link, needs to be redirected) 
 Hatfield Visitor Center – 

seagrant.oregonstate.edu/visitor-center (Coast to 
Valley schedule) 

  

                                                 
1 Many of these external links are pointed the individual 
agency’s site name that was in use before the 
NWConnector site was created (e.g. ridethebus.org or 
tillamookbus.com). These old site names are currently 
redirected to the new agency page. To quickly update 
many of these links, NWOTA agencies could change the 
redirect settings for their old site names to instead go to 
the NWConnector homepage. 

www.TravelAstoria.com   

www.GoTillamook.com   

www.VisittheOregonCoast.com    

41



Trillium – Transit Marketing   9 

ESTABLISH AND MAINTAIN NWCONNECTOR 
FACEBOOK FAN PAGE 

While the individual transit systems have Facebook pages 
which they use for various purposes, the NWConnector 
currently has no social media presence. In order to 
implement the Facebook advertising discussed in the next 
section, it will be necessary to establish a Fan Page for the 
NWConnector.  However, this is also recommended for a 
number of other reasons. 

 It will provide another means for those who have visited 
the website to engage with NWOTA. 

 It will allow NWOTA to post upcoming events that are 
occurring on the coast and can be reached via the 
NWConnector network.  

 It will provide a platform for posting seasonal trip 
itineraries (discussed in more detail later). 

 It will provide a channel for interacting with the 
Facebook pages of coastal communities, stakeholders 
and destinations which reach significant audiences: For 
Eeample: 

 The Oregon Coast (142K followers) 

 Oregon Coast Aquarium (110K followers)  

 Blue Heron French Cheese Company (12K followers) 

 Travel Astoria-Warrenton (12K followers) 

 Tillamook County Pioneer (12K followers) 

 Rockaway Beach Visitors Info Center (6K followers) 

 Cycle Oregon (15K followers) 

 

ASK PROMOTIONAL PARTNERS TO LIKE AND 
REPOST NWCONNECTOR CONTENT 

A key in effectively utilizing the NWConnector Facebook 
page will be to engage local promotional partners 
(communities, tourism bureaus, destinations and events) to 
like the page and to repost items that are relevant to their 
own audiences.  For example, if the NWConnector posts an 
item about using the bus to get to the Summer Kite Festival 
in Lincoln City, it might be reposted by the Kite Festival and 
Lincoln City Oregon Coast Facebook pages to reach a 
much broader audience.  

  

42



Trillium – Transit Marketing   10 

Residents of Portland, Salem 
and Corvallis

People 
traveling to 
NW Oregon

Transit 
Ready

NWConnector
Target Market

PROMOTE NWCONNECTOR TO POTENTIAL 
VISITORS 

At the heart of the NWOTA alliance is the desire to 
promote use of the NWConnector by visitors traveling to 
the coast from Portland other origin cities.  However, 
advertising to the broad audience of Portland or Salem 
residents or all coastal visitors is quite expensive, with the 
majority of exposure “wasted” on those with little likelihood 
of using the NWConnector. This plan proposes a more 
targeted approach to marketing the network through a 
combination of transit advertising and social media to reach 
audiences that have at least one of two characteristics: 

 They are transit ready – that is they are already transit 
users or follow their local transit agencies on social 
media. 

 They have indicated interest in coastal travel by liking 
Facebook pages associated with the Oregon coast. 

 

IMPLEMENT ON-TRANSIT ADVERTISING CAMPAIGN IN 
PORTLAND, SALEM AND CORVALLIS 

On-bus and on-train advertising is a cost effective way of 
reaching residents of Portland, Salem and Corvallis who are 
already transit users.  May of the riders on Trimet, Cherriots 
and CTS are young, active and likely to view the coast as a 
desirable destination for a day trip or weekend getaway.  
However they are more likely than the general population 
to be open to the idea of riding a bus to get there 
affordably. 

The proposed budget for the plan allocates approximately 
$15,000 to on-train and on-bus advertising.  Two thirds of 
this would be spent in Portland – on MAX and Trimet - and 
the remaining third in Salem and Corvallis.  For this budget 
NWOTA can implement a 6 month campaign which 
includes: 

 Michelangelo Ads (24” X 48”) on 60 Trimet trains and 
buses  

 Overhead Ads (11” X 28”) on 30 Cherriots 
 Overhead Ads (11” X 28”) on 10 CTS buses 

The objective of the ads would be to use a combination of 
appealing destination photos and straightforward 
messaging to make the target audience aware that transit 
to the coast is available, affordable and can be accessed 
through NWConnector.org.  

  

43



Trillium – Transit Marketing   11 

UTILIZE ON-LINE ADVERTISING TO REACH TARGETED 
AUDIENCES 

Facebook advertising works by allowing the advertiser to 
target viewers based on their “interests” – derived from the 
Facebook pages they interact with, like and follow.  We 
propose to advertise to an audience with the overlapping 
interests of “Oregon Coast” or specific coastal destinations 
and “Public Transit.” 

Google search ads work by showing text ads at the top of 
Google Search results when someone searches for specific 
key words, such as Oregon Coast, Oregon Coast Aquarium, 
Transportation to Oregon Coast, etc.  

Both of these advertising approaches would allow NWOTA 
to reach individuals with the potential to use the 
NWConnector network. Since our campaign is focused on 
building awareness of the services and associating 
NWConnector with the idea of traveling to the coast, it is 
recommended that the campaign initially utilize Facebook 
ads.  

Facebook ads allow for the use of images of coastal 
destinations and the NWConnector logo, rather than just 
text. Viewers attracted by the images will click on the ad 
and be taken to the NWConnector.org homepage or a 
specific landing page on the website.  Google Analytics can 
be used to track their activity on the site. 

The response to specific messages can also be tracked, 
allowing NWOTA to see the measureable results of its 
advertising. 

 

UTILIZE BUS BACK ADS ON NWCONNECTOR BUSES TO 
BUILD AWARENESS IN “ORIGIN” CITIES 

Advertising decals on the backs of NWConnector buses 
which serve Portland, Salem and Corvallis can build 
awareness for where those buses go and the fact that there 
is direct bus service to the coast.  These could mirror the 
messages/images that are included in the transit 
advertising campaign discussed above. 

  

Visit the Coast Car-Free 
Direct Bus Service 

Portland to Tillamook 
NWCONNECTOR.ORG 

44



Trillium – Transit Marketing   12 

CREATIVE APPROACH 

STRAIGHTFORWARD MESSAGING 

The creative approach we propose for both the  on-board 
and social media advertising is to use a combination of 
stock photography of coastal destinations with 
straightforward messages about the bus service - using 
words like “direct,” “car-free,” and “low-cost” that will tell 
our target audience exactly what NWConnector has to offer 
them. The primary objective of each ad will be to get them 
to visit NWConnector.org so that they can learn more and 
plan a trip. 

SAMPLE ITINERARIES BASED ON CUSTOMER SEGMENT 
PROFILES 

An approach which we believe will complement the 
straightforward messaging is to create sample itineraries for 
particular target segments to show them how they can use 
the NWConnector for a fun getaway.  The itineraries will 
have names that will appeal to particular groups. 

 Day Trippers – A Car-Free Day at the  Beach 
 Young Couples – Romantic Ride to the Coast 
 Families – Car-free Family Fun 
 Bikers/Hikers – Car-Free Coastal Adventure  
 Event Goers – Festival Fun with no parking required 
 Boomers – Bed, Breakfast and Beach – no car required 

The itineraries will be added to the website, but can also be 
used as a landing page for some social media ads, and 
featured as posts on the NWConnector Facebook page. 

  

45



Trillium – Transit Marketing   13 

ADVERTISING TO LOCAL RESIDENTS 

While this marketing plan focuses on attracting visitors to 
use the NWConnector, the core ridership market for each of 
the five NWOTA systems is made up of local residents who 
rely on public transit for day-to-day local transportation 
needs and/or trips to the “city” for work, college, shopping, 
medical care or longer distance travel. 

Following are three strategies for supporting and building 
this core ridership base. 

BOLD, CONSISTENT BRANDING 

Branding is marketing at its most basic – how you identify 
your service and everything associated with it through 
name, logo and packaging.  Vehicles and bus stops are in 
essence a transit system’s “packaging” and its most 
important branding tools.  They are seen by thousands of 
people every day.   

Bold branding of buses and bus stops has three 
advantages: 

 It offers immediate and constant communication that 
transit service is available.  This is relevant both for local 
residents and the more transient tourist population. 

 It turns necessary capital expenditures into highly 
effective marketing tools with long term 
communications value – hence it is an extremely cost 
effective marketing approach. 

 It offers the potential to create an image that is upbeat, 
is consistent with the local character and positions 
transit as part of the Coastal experience. 

The NWOTA members have embraced bold branding for 
the NWConnector network and to varying degrees for their 
local transit services. This is just a reminder of the 
importance of that strategy. 

EASY TO UNDERSTAND PASSENGER INFO 

Effective passenger information is at the very core of transit 
marketing and NWOTA’s systems have recognized this. The 
establishment of NWConnector has been a boon to all five 
systems as it provides an easy trip planning/mapping 
platform for riders, as well as individual pages for each 
transit agency.  When directing passengers to the website 
for transit information, the home page – NWConnector.org 
– is the appropriate destination. 

The Transit App which is now active in the region is another 
excellent passenger information tool for regular riders – 
providing real-time info where available, and schedule 

46



Trillium – Transit Marketing   14 

information otherwise.  I was pleased to see it promoted on 
vehicles and at bus shelters. 

However, printed passenger information continues to be 
relevant to many local riders. 

 System maps (to allow riders to see where they can go 
and which routes are relevant) 

 Timetables to provide schedule information 
 Basic how-to-ride info including local fares and fare 

media. 

Printed guides should also reference the fact that each 
system is part of the NWConnector network and direct 
riders to the website for info about regional services. 

EVERY DOOR DIRECT MAIL WITH FREE RIDE OFFER 

NWOTA’s systems currently use a mix of print and radio 
advertising to promote local services.  In conjunction with 
the upcoming service improvements, another medium 
offers the potential to provide more measurable response. 

Every Door Direct Mail (EDDM) is a product of the United 
States Postal Service.  It allows for the mailing of oversized 
post cards (up to legal size) to all households within a 
defined geographic area (postal carrier routes or post 
offices) which can be selected using their mapping tool. No 
mailing list or address labels are required and the mailing 
cost is $.187 per piece. 

The post cards should be bright and eye-catching (so they 
make an impact immediately upon being taken from the 
mailbox). They can deliver: 

 Promotional messages (photos, graphics and text) 
 Targeted passenger information (e.g. system map)   
 Free ride coupon (to provide a measurable response) 

The image at the left shows the front and back of a mailer 
used for a rural transit agency in Barstow, CA. It offered the 
potential riders 5 free days passes,, provided a system map 
of routes in the area and included information about using 
Google Maps for trip planning. 

EDDM could be an excellent tool for promoting new and 
improved services such as new weekend service or more 
frequent intercity trips. 

  

47



Trillium – Transit Marketing   15 

 

NWConnector Marketing Budget
FY 2019-20

Timing Budget

Transit Marketing: Customer Experience 
Review and Development of Marketing Plan October $10,000
Transit Marketing: Creation of Marketing 
Tools Nov-Jan $5,000
Trillium: Marketing Support & 
Implementation of Facebook Advertising 
and Social Media October-June $10,000
Transit Advertising
Lamar Advertising:Trimet Feb-Aug $10,400
Stott Advertising: Salem Mar-July $2,640

Printing of Signs for Local Use $800
Facebook Advertising Feb-June $10,000

Contingency $1,160

Total  Budget $50,000

48



Tillamook County Transportation District 
Board of Directors Regular Monthly Meeting 
Thursday, March 17, 2022 – 6:00PM  
Transportation Building 
3600 Third Street, Tillamook, OR  
Meeting Minutes 
 

 

1. Call to Order: Board Chair Mary Johnson called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm.   
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

3. Roll Call: 
Present 
TCTD Board of Directors  
Mary Johnson, Board Chair 
Judy Riggs, Vice Chair (zoom) 
Jackie Edwards, Director (zoom) 
Linda Adler, Secretary (zoom)  
Marty Holm, Director (zoom)  
Gary Hanenkrat, Treasurer (zoom) 
Melissa Carlson-Swanson, Director (zoom) 

 
TCTD Staff 
Doug Pilant, General Manager 
Tabatha Welch, Finance Supervisor  
Shannon Wakeman, Admin Assistant/ Board Clerk 
Mike Reed, Operations Superintendent  
Cathy Bond, NW Rides Brokerage Manager (zoom) 

 
Guests  
Arla Miller, ODOT 
Chris Kell, TCTD TAC 
Kathy Kleczek, NTO  
Ashley, Headlight Herald  
Natalie Zuercher, TCTD 
 
 

4. Announcements and Changes to Agenda: GM Pilant indicated that an error on the 
agenda and that tonight’s financial report will be for February 2022. 
 

5. Public & Guest Comments:   
a. Kathy Kleczek invited people to tune in to the Northwest Transportation Options 

show tomorrow at 11am on Facebook and YouTube. They will be discussing 
Transportation Employee Appreciation Day, which is March 18. 

b. Arla Miller- On behalf of ODOT, she thanked all transit workers, especially 
during COVID times, outstanding job, especially Doug and team.  

c. Chris Kell- TCTD knocked it out of park on trolley purchase, town is so excited. 
Also, the TCTD Facebook has been a success within the community. 

49



6. Executive Session:  None  
 
REPORTS 
7. Financial Report: Finance Supervisor Welch reviewed the TCTD year-to-date financial 

report through February 2022.  
 
Supervisor Welch added that the percentage of the year completed should be corrected 
66% on each page.  
  
8. Service Measure Performance Report: GM Pilant gave the service performance report 

through January 2022. 
 
Dir. Adler asked if the District is back to running a full schedule now. GM Pilant responded 
not yet, but the plan is to be back to a full schedule in May.  
 
9. Northwest Oregon Transit Alliance: GM Pilant shared updates from the last partner 

meeting. Their discussion continued about problems getting a host and support for the 
website’s open trip planner platform. The new website hosting company went out of 
business. As a result, open trip planner hosting will continue to be a higher cost until 
a different option can be found. Currently discussing pros and cons of supporting open 
trip planner versus Google Transit.  Returning to Google Transit means that people 
who are planning trips to the coast more than 60 days out would not be able to. Also, 
GTFS flex technology allows riders to see available Dial A Ride options, which in some 
cases is more convenient for travelers to use. The group also discussed FMCSA driver 
training changes that went into effect in February, which will make hiring new drivers 
more challenging. TCTD and SETD have both become qualified to be registered in 
national registry, next steps are putting together training program to meet criteria and 
get certified.  

 
10. Planning & Development:  GM Pilant shared the following updates: 

a. The kickoff meeting for Coordinated Human Services Public Transportation 
Plan (CTP) was held last week. Dir. Carlson-Swanson invited GM Pilant to 
attend county wide social services directors meeting and provide committee 
with overview of purpose and intent of CTP and invite their engagement. GM 
Pilant will be meeting with consultant to modify scope of work and change 
public outreach plan and engage the community in more of small group 
sessions.  

 
11. Grant Funding:     

a. AA Wakeman submitted TLT grant for additional money for the Transit Center 
renovation. Application has moved to next round for consideration, and we will 
know mid-April. 
 

12. Facility/Property Management: GM Pilant gave the following updates: 
a. Received estimate from engineering firm and architectural firm for a revised 

scope of work to make additional changes at the transit center. These changes 
will include reconfiguring existing space to eliminate blind spots and create a 

50



more welcoming environment. Plans also include updating technology and 
installing an HVAC system. 

 
b. Propane fueling facility is almost complete. The wrong fuel card programming 

technology was sent, correct system should arrive next week. Permanent tanks 
will arrive soon. Hoping to have full project completed in May. 

c. Champion Park Apartment bus stop project has gone out to bid to six local 
construction companies. Received one bid from Advanced Excavation 
Company. The shelter is currently being shipped and should arrive soon.  

d. NWOTA Project is still waiting for categorical exclusion from FTA. In the 
meantime, design work has started at three bus stops. 

 
13. NW Ride Brokerage:  Brokerage Manager Bond shared the following updates: 

a. Fully implemented new phone system has provided enhanced customer 
service for contact center. The new update now includes recording on all calls, 
great coaching tool, and new menu options to streamline calls and prioritization. 
System will close audit observation from Oregon Health Authority.   

b. TCTD also has new phone system, but menu options haven’t changed yet, will 
be starting that soon. This new system will save District money.  
 

14. Miscellaneous:  
a. Took delivery of three propane powered vehicles in last several days, one small 

bus and two Ford Transits. One more Ford Transit will be arriving in 2-3 weeks, 
then waiting for rest of vehicles ordered 14 months ago. Vehicles have the 
option to use gas or propane.  
 

Dir. Holm asked about the difference in range for propane versus gas vehicles. GM Pilant 
explained that on propane vehicles will get fewer miles to the gallon, but fuel cost is 
significantly less. Also, because propane burns more cleanly there will be less wear and 
tear on vehicles.  
 

b. The employee handbook has not been revised since 2015. TCTD staff has 
been working with Heidi Mason to integrate all recent employment laws and 
regulations, remove crossovers and redundancies from Collective Bargaining 
Agreement. The District will also be moving to a new PTO leave program to 
combine sick and vacation. Hoping to have revised handbook ready for Board 
approval in May or June for July 1st implementation.  
 

Board Chair Johnson asked if Heidi was the one who helped with the Recruitment and 
Retention Plan. GM Pilant answered yes. 
 
Dir. Holm asked if the PTO switch has already taken effect with union employees. GM 
Pilant explained that this change is just for administrative and brokerage staff, not union 
employees.  
 
Dir. Adler asked when we’ll receive the financial audit for 2020-2021. GM Pilant said he 
doesn’t know and said the auditors requested and received a 3rd extension. 

 

51



CONSENT CALENDAR 
15. Motion to Approve the Minutes of February 17, 2022, Regular Board Meeting  
16. Motion to Accept the TCTD February 2022 Financial and January 2022 Service 

Reports 
 
Motion by Dir. Holm to approve Consent Calendar. Motion Seconded by Dir. Adler. 

 
Motion Passed 

By Directors Hanenkrat, Carlson-Swanson, Adler, Riggs, 
Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 

 
ACTION ITEMS 
17.  Motion to Reappoint Chris Kell and Appoint Richard Mounce and Justin Aufdermauer 

to the TCTD Budget Committee.  
 
Dir. Adler expressed that she would prefer not to take advice from Chris Kell and pointed 
out that she’s lost the last three elections. She questioned that since Justin is her 
grandson wouldn’t that be unethical?  
 
Dir. Riggs expressed that Chris Kell has come to every Board meeting. She’s been very 
involved and active within the District. Dir. Riggs pointed out that there needs to be more 
professionalism displayed by the Board and encouraged Board members to put being 
professional over personality differences. 
 
Dir. Edwards added that Chris Kell is very knowledgeable and has served the District 
before, she has never received any complaints about Mrs. Kell, and expressed that she 
does a good job. She recommends continuing with Mrs. Kell. 
 
Dir. Adler said her experiences with Mrs. Kell have been more than negative. She’d like 
to appoint the other two candidates and leave one seat open. 
 

Motion by Dir. Riggs to Reappoint Chris Kell and Appoint Richard Mounce and Justin 
Aufdermauer to the TCTD Budget Committee. Motion Seconded by Dir. Edwards. 
 
Dir. Hanenkrat asked if all three can be approved as one group. Board Chair Johnson 
responded yes. 

 
Motion Passed 

By Directors Hanenkrat, Carlson-Swanson, Riggs, 
Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 

Opposed: Dir. Adler 
 

18.  Resolution #22-07 In the Matter of Approving Award of Construction Contract to 
Advanced Excavation Inc. for Champion Park Apartment Complex Transit Stop 
Improvements Projects 

 

52



Dir. Adler asked if we could extend the time frame to receive a more competitive bid. BC 
Johnson asked what the average cost was for a similar project. GM Pilant answered that 
he budgeted $95,000 for project. Dir. Holm said Advanced Excavation is an excellent 
company.  
 
Motion by Dir. Holm to approve Resolution #22-07 In the Matter of Approving Award of 
Construction Contract to Advanced Excavation Inc. for Champion Park Apartment 
Complex Transit Stop Improvements Projects. Motion Seconded by Dir. Riggs.  
 

Motion Passed 
By Directors Hanenkrat, Carlson-Swanson, Adler, Riggs, 

Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 
 
19.  Resolution #22-08 In the Matter of Declaring and Surplus Property and Authorizing 

the General Manager to Dispose of the Vehicles in Most Advantageous Manner 
 
GM stated that there are currently four buses and four vans that the District wishes to 
declare as surplus property and make room for new vehicles. Dir. Holm added it’s a good 
time to get residual value out of them. Dir. Hanenkrat asked how the District disposes of 
them? GM Pilant said through a competitive process, advertising, and possibly some 
direct sales to prior partners. The vans all exceed useful life by two or three years and 
many miles. Dir. Holm asked if the District has considered donating them. GM Pilant 
expressed that he would not recommend donating these because the maintenance cost 
would be too high.  
 
Motion by Dir. Riggs to Approve Resolution #22-08 In the Matter of Declaring and Surplus 
Property and Authorizing the General Manager to Dispose of the Vehicles in Most 
Advantageous Manner. Motion Seconded by Dir. Holm.  

Motion Passed 
By Directors Hanenkrat, Carlson-Swanson, Adler, Riggs, 

Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson. 
 

DISCUSSION ITEMS 
20. Staff Comments/Concerns: 

GM Pilant: Expressed his regret that ODOT has lost a few icons within the community 
in the last month.  
 
Operations Superintendent Reed:  No Comment 
  
Finance Supervisor Welch:  No Comment 
 
NW Rides Brokerage Manager Bond: Thanked GM Pilant for supporting crazy 
projects, like the phone project. She has enjoyed working ten years beside him.  
 
Administrative Assistant Wakeman: Thanked District staff, GM Pilant, and the Board 
and said she has enjoyed working with everyone. 
 

21. Board of Directors Comments/Concerns:  

53



Board Chair Johnson: Going to miss Shannon but welcomed Natalie. Wished Tabatha 
luck with the budget. Shared relief with Cathy that the phone system is completed. 
Thanked the team.  
 
Dir. Riggs: Shared that the Crab Races are over and they raised $21,000. Thanked 
District for the donated bus pass. Reminded the Board that the General Manager 
evaluation needs to be completed ASAP. Thanked Shannon for her hard work along 
with Cathy for the phone system. 
 
Dir. Adler: Wished everyone a Happy St. Patrick’s Day. Thanked Cathy for work on 
phone system as well as Shannon for all her hard work. Asked that the Board be 
consulted on Trolley purchases before including in the budget.  
 
Dir. Hanenkrat: No comment 
 
Dir. Carlson-Swanson: Welcomed Natalie and wished Shannon the best as well as 
thanked her for her hard work.  
 
Dir. Holm: Trolley is getting a lot of attention, haven’t heard from this many people 
since stagecoach wrap and cow wrap. Lots of excitement within the community.  
 
Dir. Edwards: Need to plan for Doug’s review. Thanked Shannon. Thanked Cathy.  
Loves the trolleys. Lots of good things here.  
 
Adjournment: Board Chair Johnson adjourned the meeting at 6:58 pm. 

  
These minutes approved this 21st day of April 2022. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
              
     Mary Johnson, Board Chair      Douglas Pilant, General Manager  

54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT POLICY 
 

TRAINING CIRRICULUM FOR DRIVERS  Number:  29 

Adopted by the Board of Directors on February 28, 2013 
Reviewed: April 21, 2022 Pages:  3   

 
POLICY STATEMENT 
Tillamook County Transportation District (“TCTD”) requires all TCTD drivers to 
successfully complete the TCTD Training Program, to include FMCSA Entry Level 
Driver Training (“ELDT”) requirements.  Transit Drivers will be required to complete the 
following curriculums: 1) TCTD Employee Orientation; 2) USDOT Theory and Behind-
the-Wheel ELDT Program; 3) Passenger Assistance and Safe Service (PASS) training; 
and, 4) Defensive Driver Training.  Employees must successfully pass all exams with at 
least 80% and must demonstrate they can successfully implement all TCTD operations 
policies and procedures. 
 
ORIENTATION           

History of TCTD 
Mission and Vision 
Service Philosophy and Goals 
CDL Requirements and Instruction 
Review Training Curriculum 
Review TCTD Employee Handbook 
Review TCTD Occupational Health and Safety (“OHS”) Plan 
Review TCTD Emergency Prevention and Action Plan  
Review TCTD Operations Manual  
Review TCTD Preventative Maintenance Plan 
   

THEORY TRAINING CURRICULUM 
Basic Operations 

B1.1.1 Orientation - Types of vehicles and safety features 
B1.1.2 Control Systems/Dashboard 

 B1.1.3 Pre and Post Vehicle Inspections   
B1.1.4 Basic Controls 
B1.1.5 Shifting/Operating Transmissions 
B1.1.6 Backing and Docking 
 

Safe Operating Procedures 
B1.2.1 Visual Search - Blind Spots and Danger Zones  
B1.2.2 Communication 
B1.2.3 Distracted Driving 
B1.2.4 Speed Management 
B1.2.5 Space Management  
B1.2.6 Night Operation 
B1.2.7 Extreme Driving Condition - Unexpected Hazards 

 
Advanced Operating Practices 

B1.3.1 Hazard Perception 

78



B1.3.2 Skid Control/Recovery, Jackknifing, and Other Emergencies 
B1.3.3 Railroad-Highway Grade Crossings 
 

Vehicle Systems and Reporting Malfunctions 
 B1.4.1 Identification and Diagnosis of Malfunctions 

B1.4.2 Roadside Inspection 
B1.4.3 Maintenance  
 

Non-Driving Activities 
B1.5.1 Handling and Documenting Cargo 
B1.5.2 Environmental Compliance Issues - (TCTD OHS Plan) 
B1.5.3 Hours of Service Requirements 
B1.5.4 Fatigue and Wellness Awareness 
B1.5.5 Post-Crash Procedures - Driver Responsibilities 
B1.5.6 External Communications - 2–Way Radio Communication 
B1.5.7 Whistleblower/Coercion - (TCTD Employee Handbook) 
B1.5.8 Trip Planning - Service Area and Route Information 
B1.5.9 Drugs/Alcohol - (TCTD FTA Drug and Alcohol Policy) 
B1.5.10 Medical Requirements - (TCTD Employee Handbook) 

 
PASSENGER THEORY TRAINING 

C1.1 Post-Crash Procedures 
C1.2 Other Emergency Procedures - Passenger Evacuation Plan(s), Accident 
Scene Assistance and Control, and Safety Equipment 
C1.3 Vehicle Orientation 
C1.4 Pre-Trip, Enroute, and Post-Trip Vehicle Inspection 
C1.5 Fueling 
C1.6 Idling 
C1.7 Baggage and/or Cargo Management 
C1.8 Passenger Safety Awareness Briefing - 7 Emergency Management Steps 
C1.9 Passenger Management - Fares and Collection Procedures 
C1.10 Americans With Disabilities Act (ADA) 
C1.11 Hours of Service (HOS) Requirements 
C1.12 Safety Belt - Approaching/Departing Stops Passenger Loading/Unloading 
& Securement, Wheelchair Securement, Lap and Shoulder Belts, Passenger 
“Transfer” Techniques 
C1.13 Distracted Driving 
C1.14 Railroad (RR)-Highway Grade Crossings and Drawbridges 
C1.15 Weigh Stations 
C1.16 Security and Crime  
C1.17 Roadside Inspections 
C1.18 Penalties and Fines 

 
BEHIND-THE-WHEEL TRAINING (BTW) 

C2.1 Vehicle Orientation 
B2.1/C2.2 Pre-trip, Enroute, Post trip Inspection 
B3.1 Vehicle Controls 
B2.2 Straight Line Backing 
B2.3 Alley Dock Backing (45/90 Degree) 
B2.4 Off-Set Backing 
B2.5 Parallel Parking Blind Side 
B2.6 Parallel Parking Sight Side 

79



B3.2 Shifting/Transmission 
B3.3 Communications/Signaling 
B3.4 Visual Search 
B3.5 Speed and Space Management 
B3.6 Safe Driver Behavior 
B3.7 Hours of Service (HOS) Requirements 
B3.8 Hazard Perception 
B3.9/C2.6 Railroad (RR) - Highway Grade Crossing 
B3.10 Night Operation 
B3.11 Extreme Driving Conditions 
B3.12 Skid Control/Recovery, Jackknifing and Other Emergencies 
C2.3 Baggage and/or Cargo Management 
C2.4 Passenger Safety Awareness Briefing 
C2.5 Passenger Management 

 
 

80



81



82



83



84



85



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

 
Authorizing the General Manager  ) 
to Manager to Execute a Personal      ) 
Services Agreement with North  ) 
Coast Lawn Services )     RESOLUTION NO. 22-09 
  
 

WHEREAS, the Tillamook County Transportation District is in need of landscaping 
services, as those described and advertised for public bid on March 4, 2022, by Invitation 
to Bid (ITB); and    

 
WHEREAS, Contractor is qualified and desires to provide such services, and 

submitted a bid attached hereto as Attachment A, and incorporated herein by reference, 
to perform such services in response to the District’s ITB; and      

 
WHEREAS, the District wishes to enter into a contract with North Coast Lawn for 

a three-year contract to perform landscape maintenance services. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County Transportation 
District Board of Directors: 
 

that the Board authorizes the General Manager to enter into a three-year contract 
not to exceed $33,000 with North Coast Lawn Services to perform landscape 
maintenance services at the TCTD Administrative Facility and Downtown Transit Center. 
 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 21st day of April 2022. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
Mary Johnson, Board Chair Douglas Pilant, General Manager 

86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

In the Matter of Authorizing the    )           
General Manager to Enter into a )                       
Contract with R&W Engineering, Inc. ) 
For Electrical and Engineering Services )    RESOLUTION NO. 22-10 
 
WHEREAS, the Tillamook County Transportation District (the “District”) has a need for 
electrical and mechanical engineering services as part of the District’s Administrative 
Operations Facility and Downtown Transit Center Renovation Plan (the “Plan”); and  
 
WHEREAS, R&W Engineering, Inc. desires to contract with the District to provide the 
desired electrical and mechanical engineering services for the Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District finds R&W Engineering, Inc. to be qualified and experienced 
engineers; and 
 
WHEREAS, the District’s Public Contracting Rules and Procedures, and ORS 
279C.110(10), allows the direct appointment for personal services contracts for 
architectural, engineering, photogrammetric mapping, transportation planning or land 
surveying services if the total contract amount is less than $100,000; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Tillamook 
County Transportation District that: 
 
The General Manager is authorized to enter into a Personal Services Agreement with R&W 
Engineering, Inc., in an amount not to exceed $23,050, to provide electrical and 
mechanical engineering services for the District’s Administrative Operations Facility and 
Downtown Transit Center Renovation Plan. 
 
 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 21st day of April, 2022. 
 
ATTEST: 
 

By: ____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
       Mary Johnson, Board Chair           Douglas Pilant, General Manager 

 
 

99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

Authorizing the General Manager ) 
to Enter into a Janitorial Services )     
Agreement with Marie Mills Center  ) 
for the Downtown Transit Center )    RESOLUTION NO. 22-11 
 
 
  WHEREAS, Tillamook County Transportation District (TCTD) seeks to 
contract for the provision of janitorial services at the Tillamook Downtown Transit Center; 
and  
 
 WHEREAS, Marie Mills Center, Inc. is a qualified contractor to provide such 
services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Marie Mills Center, Inc. is recognized by the Oregon 
Department of Administrative Services as a Qualified Rehabilitation Facility for purposes 
of public contracting; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the District wishes to enter into a contract with Marie Mills 

Center, Inc. for the performance of janitorial services as outlined on the Janitorial Services 
Agreement Exhibit A; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County 

Transportation District Board of Directors: 
 
that the Tillamook County Transportation District Board of Directors 

authorizes the General Manager to Execute a Janitorial Service Agreement in the amount 
of $16,422.11 with Marie Mills Center for janitorial services at the Tillamook Downtown 
Transit Center.  

 
 INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 21st day of April 2022. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
Mary Johnson, Board Chair Doug Pilant, General Manager 

119



120



121



122



BEFORE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE 

TILLAMOOK COUNTY TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 
 

Authorizing the General Manager ) 
to Enter into a Janitorial Services  )     
Agreement with Marie Mills Center  ) 
for the TCTD Administrative Building )     RESOLUTION NO. 22-12 
 
   
  WHEREAS, Tillamook County Transportation District (TCTD) seeks to 
contract for the provision of janitorial services at the District’s administrative and 
operations offices; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Marie Mills Center, Inc. is a qualified contractor to provide such 
services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Marie Mills Center, Inc. is recognized by the Oregon 
Department of Administrative Services as a Qualified Rehabilitation Facility for purposes 
of public contracting; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the District wishes to enter into a contract with Marie Mills 

Center, Inc. for the performance of janitorial services outlined on the Janitorial Services 
Agreement Attachment A; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Tillamook County 

Transportation District Board of Directors: 
 
that the Tillamook County Transportation District Board of Directors 

authorizes the General Manager to Execute a Janitorial Service Agreement in the amount 
of $6,325.81 to Marie Mills Center for janitorial services at the TCTD administrative and 
operations building.  

 
 INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 21st day of April 2022. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________ 
Mary Johnson, Board Chair Doug Pilant, General Manager 

123



124



125



126


	Board Packet CoverAPRIL
	AprilFINANCIALS
	AprilPERFORMANCE
	2022.04.08 NWOTA Meeting Agenda
	2022.03.11 NWOTA Minutes
	NWOTAFinancial
	NW Connector Facebook Metrics - March 22
	2020 Marketing Recommendations for NWConnector
	3.17.2022 Minutes DraftREVISED
	2. Pledge of Allegiance
	3. Roll Call:
	Present
	TCTD Board of Directors
	TCTD Staff
	Doug Pilant, General Manager
	Guests
	Arla Miller, ODOT
	Chris Kell, TCTD TAC
	Kathy Kleczek, NTO
	Ashley, Headlight Herald
	Natalie Zuercher, TCTD
	4. Announcements and Changes to Agenda: GM Pilant indicated that an error on the agenda and that tonight’s financial report will be for February 2022.
	5. Public & Guest Comments:
	a. Kathy Kleczek invited people to tune in to the Northwest Transportation Options show tomorrow at 11am on Facebook and YouTube. They will be discussing Transportation Employee Appreciation Day, which is March 18.
	b. Arla Miller- On behalf of ODOT, she thanked all transit workers, especially during COVID times, outstanding job, especially Doug and team.
	c. Chris Kell- TCTD knocked it out of park on trolley purchase, town is so excited. Also, the TCTD Facebook has been a success within the community.
	6. Executive Session:  None
	REPORTS
	7. Financial Report: Finance Supervisor Welch reviewed the TCTD year-to-date financial report through February 2022.
	Supervisor Welch added that the percentage of the year completed should be corrected 66% on each page.
	8. Service Measure Performance Report: GM Pilant gave the service performance report through January 2022.
	Dir. Adler asked if the District is back to running a full schedule now. GM Pilant responded not yet, but the plan is to be back to a full schedule in May.
	9. Northwest Oregon Transit Alliance: GM Pilant shared updates from the last partner meeting. Their discussion continued about problems getting a host and support for the website’s open trip planner platform. The new website hosting company went out o...
	10. Planning & Development:  GM Pilant shared the following updates:
	a. The kickoff meeting for Coordinated Human Services Public Transportation Plan (CTP) was held last week. Dir. Carlson-Swanson invited GM Pilant to attend county wide social services directors meeting and provide committee with overview of purpose an...
	11. Grant Funding:
	a. AA Wakeman submitted TLT grant for additional money for the Transit Center renovation. Application has moved to next round for consideration, and we will know mid-April.
	12. Facility/Property Management: GM Pilant gave the following updates:
	a. Received estimate from engineering firm and architectural firm for a revised scope of work to make additional changes at the transit center. These changes will include reconfiguring existing space to eliminate blind spots and create a more welcomin...
	b. Propane fueling facility is almost complete. The wrong fuel card programming technology was sent, correct system should arrive next week. Permanent tanks will arrive soon. Hoping to have full project completed in May.
	c. Champion Park Apartment bus stop project has gone out to bid to six local construction companies. Received one bid from Advanced Excavation Company. The shelter is currently being shipped and should arrive soon.
	d. NWOTA Project is still waiting for categorical exclusion from FTA. In the meantime, design work has started at three bus stops.
	13. NW Ride Brokerage:  Brokerage Manager Bond shared the following updates:
	a. Fully implemented new phone system has provided enhanced customer service for contact center. The new update now includes recording on all calls, great coaching tool, and new menu options to streamline calls and prioritization. System will close au...
	b. TCTD also has new phone system, but menu options haven’t changed yet, will be starting that soon. This new system will save District money.
	14. Miscellaneous:
	a. Took delivery of three propane powered vehicles in last several days, one small bus and two Ford Transits. One more Ford Transit will be arriving in 2-3 weeks, then waiting for rest of vehicles ordered 14 months ago. Vehicles have the option to use...
	Dir. Holm asked about the difference in range for propane versus gas vehicles. GM Pilant explained that on propane vehicles will get fewer miles to the gallon, but fuel cost is significantly less. Also, because propane burns more cleanly there will be...
	b. The employee handbook has not been revised since 2015. TCTD staff has been working with Heidi Mason to integrate all recent employment laws and regulations, remove crossovers and redundancies from Collective Bargaining Agreement. The District will ...
	Board Chair Johnson asked if Heidi was the one who helped with the Recruitment and Retention Plan. GM Pilant answered yes.
	Dir. Holm asked if the PTO switch has already taken effect with union employees. GM Pilant explained that this change is just for administrative and brokerage staff, not union employees.
	Dir. Adler asked when we’ll receive the financial audit for 2020-2021. GM Pilant said he doesn’t know and said the auditors requested and received a 3rd extension.
	CONSENT CALENDAR
	Motion by Dir. Holm to approve Consent Calendar. Motion Seconded by Dir. Adler.
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Carlson-Swanson, Adler, Riggs,
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	ACTION ITEMS
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Carlson-Swanson, Riggs,
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	Opposed: Dir. Adler
	18.  Resolution #22-07 In the Matter of Approving Award of Construction Contract to Advanced Excavation Inc. for Champion Park Apartment Complex Transit Stop Improvements Projects
	Dir. Adler asked if we could extend the time frame to receive a more competitive bid. BC Johnson asked what the average cost was for a similar project. GM Pilant answered that he budgeted $95,000 for project. Dir. Holm said Advanced Excavation is an e...
	Motion by Dir. Holm to approve Resolution #22-07 In the Matter of Approving Award of Construction Contract to Advanced Excavation Inc. for Champion Park Apartment Complex Transit Stop Improvements Projects. Motion Seconded by Dir. Riggs.
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Carlson-Swanson, Adler, Riggs,
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	19.  Resolution #22-08 In the Matter of Declaring and Surplus Property and Authorizing the General Manager to Dispose of the Vehicles in Most Advantageous Manner
	GM stated that there are currently four buses and four vans that the District wishes to declare as surplus property and make room for new vehicles. Dir. Holm added it’s a good time to get residual value out of them. Dir. Hanenkrat asked how the Distri...
	Motion by Dir. Riggs to Approve Resolution #22-08 In the Matter of Declaring and Surplus Property and Authorizing the General Manager to Dispose of the Vehicles in Most Advantageous Manner. Motion Seconded by Dir. Holm.
	Motion Passed
	By Directors Hanenkrat, Carlson-Swanson, Adler, Riggs,
	Holm, Edwards, and Board Chair Johnson.
	DISCUSSION ITEMS
	20. Staff Comments/Concerns:
	GM Pilant: Expressed his regret that ODOT has lost a few icons within the community in the last month.
	Operations Superintendent Reed:  No Comment
	Finance Supervisor Welch:  No Comment
	NW Rides Brokerage Manager Bond: Thanked GM Pilant for supporting crazy projects, like the phone project. She has enjoyed working ten years beside him.
	Administrative Assistant Wakeman: Thanked District staff, GM Pilant, and the Board and said she has enjoyed working with everyone.
	21. Board of Directors Comments/Concerns:
	Board Chair Johnson: Going to miss Shannon but welcomed Natalie. Wished Tabatha luck with the budget. Shared relief with Cathy that the phone system is completed. Thanked the team.
	Dir. Riggs: Shared that the Crab Races are over and they raised $21,000. Thanked District for the donated bus pass. Reminded the Board that the General Manager evaluation needs to be completed ASAP. Thanked Shannon for her hard work along with Cathy f...
	Dir. Adler: Wished everyone a Happy St. Patrick’s Day. Thanked Cathy for work on phone system as well as Shannon for all her hard work. Asked that the Board be consulted on Trolley purchases before including in the budget.
	Dir. Hanenkrat: No comment
	Dir. Carlson-Swanson: Welcomed Natalie and wished Shannon the best as well as thanked her for her hard work.
	Dir. Holm: Trolley is getting a lot of attention, haven’t heard from this many people since stagecoach wrap and cow wrap. Lots of excitement within the community.
	Dir. Edwards: Need to plan for Doug’s review. Thanked Shannon. Thanked Cathy.  Loves the trolleys. Lots of good things here.
	Adjournment: Board Chair Johnson adjourned the meeting at 6:58 pm.
	These minutes approved this 21st day of April 2022.
	ATTEST:

	PCS
	04 Charter Operations Policy 04.21.22
	Definitions
	“Charter Service” means, but does not include demand response service to individuals:
	1) Transportation provided by a recipient at the request of a third party for the exclusive use of a bus or van for a negotiated price. The following features may be characteristic of charter service:
	a) A third party pays the transit provider a negotiated price for the group;
	b) Any fares charged to individual members of the group are collected by a third party;
	c) The service is not part of the transit provider’s regularly scheduled service, or is offered for a limited period of time; or
	d) A third party determines the origin and destination of the trip as well as scheduling; or
	2) Transportation provided by a recipient to the public for events or functions that occur on an irregular basis or for a limited duration and:
	a) A premium fare is charged that is greater than the usual or customary fixed route fare; or
	b) The service is paid for in whole or in part by a third party.
	“Charter Bus Service Rule” means 49 CFR 604, which implements 49 U.S.C. 5323(d), protecting private charter operators from unauthorized competition from FTA grant recipients/subrecipients.
	‘‘Demand response’’ means any non-fixed route system of transporting individuals that requires advanced scheduling by the customer, including services provided by public entities, nonprofits, and private providers.
	“Federal Transit Laws” means 49 U.S.C. 5301 et seq., and includes 23 U.S.C. 103(e)(4), 142(a), and 142(c), when used to provide assistance to public transit agencies for purchasing buses and vans.
	“FTA” means the Federal Transit Administration.
	“General Manager” means the person serving as General Manager of the District or designee.
	“Geographic Service Area” means the entire area in which a recipient is authorized to provide public transportation service under appropriate local, state, and Federal law.
	“Government Official” means an individual elected or appointed at the local, state, or Federal level.

	REDLINECHARTER
	29 Training Cirriculum for Drivers  4.21.2022
	REDLINETrainingCir
	22-09 N Coast Lawn PSA
	PSCNCL
	22-10 RW PSA for Engineering Services
	R&WRES10
	R&WRES10
	22-11 MMCI Janitorial Transit Center
	2022MMJanitorial
	22-12 MMCI Janitorial Administration
	2022MMJanitorialADMIN



